
 
NOTICE TO READER  
 
The Company is amending its management's discussion and analysis for the three and nine months ended 
December 31, 2019 ("Q3 2020 MDA") upon request by the Ontario Securities Commission to address 
certain deficiencies in the Company's discussion of its financial results. Accordingly, updates have been 
made to the Company's Q3 2020 MDA as previously filed to clarify and provide additional disclosure 
regarding: 

1. The Company's working capital requirements and as a going concern;  

2. Key drivers of changes in key financial metrics related to the Company's performance for the period;  

3. The status of the required approvals from Health Canada;  

4. The status of the Company's London and Hamilton facilities;  

5. The Company's partnerships and joint ventures;  

6. The Company's lease and debt obligations;  

7. The risks and uncertainties related to the Company;  

8. The Company’s quarter-to-date results; 

9. Additional discussion on variations between quarters; 

10. The identification of related parties in the related party transactions 

11. Adjustments made to the financial statements as at December 31, 2019 to correct, among others, the 
following material values assigned to:  

• Reduce inventories by $267,279 to include period recognition, reclassification of packaging costs 
previously assigned to sales and marketing and other consumables previously not included; 

• Reduce the fair value of biological assets by $41,390, and  
• Include impairment to property, plant and equipment of $1,531,407 relating to prior periods not 

previously included.  
• Reclassify $2,455,016 from current and long-term liabilities to Borrowings; 
• Include $106,626 of depreciation in right-of-use assets previously omitted in the statement of cash 

flows 

• Include a fair value adjustment of $361,482 on the sale of inventories as non-cash in the statement 
of cash flows 

• Adjusted trade and other payments by a net amount of ($474,241) in the statement of cash flows; 
and  

Reclassified $250,000 of changes in other current liabilities from operating activities to investing activities 
and reclassify $500,000 of changes in other current liabilities from operating activities to financing activities 
(proceeds from  borrowings) in the statement of cash flowsDetails of the changes to the financial statements 
are fully described in Note 24 to the Q3 2020 FS as filed on SEDAR on April 29, 2020. 
 
The previously filed financial statements for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019 ("Q3 
2020 FS") and Q3 2020 MDA were originally filed by the Company on SEDAR on March 2, 2020 and refiled 
on April 20, 2020. The Q3 2020 FS and Q3 2020 MDA as filed on April 29, 2020, respectively, replace and 
supersede each of the previously filed Q3 2020 FS and Q3 2020 MDA. This notice supersedes previously 
filed versions. 
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The following is a revised MDA of the financial condition and results of operations of Beleave Inc. ("Beleave" or the 
"Company") and its wholly-owned subsidiary Beleave Kannabis Corp. ("BKC"), and 9334416 Canada Inc., o/a Medi-
Green, and My-Grow ("Medi-Green"), Seven Oaks Inc. ("Seven Oaks"), 1161141 B.C Ltd., Beleave Kannabis 
Chilliwack and Beleave Kannabis Abbotsford for the nine months ended December 31, 2019. This MDA should be 
read in conjunction with the Company's restated unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements 
and accompanying notes for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019 (the "Financial Statements") as 
restated and refiled on April 24, 2020. All amounts in the MDA are in Canadian dollars, except per share amounts 
or as indicated otherwise. The Company's accounting policies are in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). 

The effective date of this revised MDA is April 29, 2020. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This MDA includes certain forward-looking statements that are based upon current expectations, which involve risks 
and uncertainties associated with our business and the environment in which the business operates. Any 
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking 
statements, including those identified by the expressions "anticipate", "believe", "plan", "estimate", "expect", "intend" 
and similar expressions to the extent they relate to the Company or its management. The forward-looking 
statements are not historical facts but reflect management's current expectations regarding future results or events. 
These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results 
or events to differ materially from current expectations, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related 
to: 

• the performance of the Company's business and operations. 

• the intention to grow the business and operations of the Company. 

• expected growth in the number of users of medical cannabis in Canada. 

• expected growth in the number of users of cannabis in Canada. 

• the number of grams of cannabis to be used by each user. 

• future liquidity and financial capacity. 

• the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, dependence on 
management and conflicts of interest. 

• treatment under government regulatory and taxation regimes and potential changes thereto in light of recent 
court decisions; and 

• other risks described in this MDA and described from time to time in documents filed by the Company with 
Canadian securities regulatory authorities. 

The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain key expectations and assumptions, 
including: 

• the ability of the Company to generate cash flow from operations and obtain necessary financing on 
acceptable terms. 

• the Company's expectations regarding legislation, regulations and licensing related to the cultivation, 
production, and sale of cannabis products. 

• general economic, financial market, regulatory and political conditions in which the Company operates. 

• consumer interest in the Company's products. 

• the timely receipt of any required regulatory approvals, including approvals from Health Canada. 

• competition. 

• the ability of the Company to obtain qualified staff, equipment and services in a timely and cost-efficient 
manner; and 
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• the ability of the Company to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner. 

With respect to the forward-looking statements contained herein, although the Company believes that the 
expectations and assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, undue reliance 
should not be placed on the forward-looking statements, because no assurance can be given that they will prove 
to be correct. Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this MDA and other documents of the Company 
are qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the anticipated results or 
developments will be realized or, even if realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects on 
the Company. The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered in connection 
with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that the Company and/or persons acting on the 
Company's behalf may issue. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than as required under 
securities legislation. 

OVERVIEW 

BELEAVE'S BUSINESS 

Beleave is a Canadian cannabis company with its common shares ("Common Shares") publicly traded on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE") under the symbol "BE" and posted for trading on the OTCQX under the 
symbol "BLEVF". 

BKC, Beleave's wholly-owned subsidiary, has been licensed to produce cannabis since May 18, 2017, when it was 
issued a license to cultivate cannabis (a "Cultivation License") by Health Canada for its purpose-built facility located 
in Hamilton, Ontario (the "Hamilton Facility"). In September 2017, Beleave started cultivation activities at its 
Hamilton Facility and received its sales license from Health Canada (a "Sales License") in April 2018 to sell to 
medical cannabis patients in Canada. In January 2019, Beleave was authorized by Health Canada to sell cannabis 
oil products. In October 2019, Beleave was also authorized to sell extracts, topicals and edibles by Health Canada 
under the Cannabis 2.0 regulatory update ("Cannabis 2.0"). When the Cannabis Act (Canada) (the "Cannabis Act") 
came into force on October 17, 2018, the licenses were migrated on November 8, 2018. BKC's license classes are 
now standard cultivation, standard processing, medical sales and research (collectively, the "License"). BKC 
continues to be the license holder and producer of cannabis from Beleave's operation in Hamilton. 

Beleave's Hamilton Facility has achieved a number of important milestones that demonstrate a commitment to high 
production standards, including the December 17, 2018 announcement that Global Compliance, Inc. has inspected 
and assessed the Company's processes for the production of cannabis and determined that the Company's 
Hamilton Facility meets all requirements for certification. Additionally, Beleave announced on January 31, 2019 that 
BKC had obtained ISO 9001:2015 certification for the research, development, and production of cannabis products 
for medicinal and recreational purposes. ISO 9001 is a quality management system standard developed by the 
International Organization for Standardization, an association of governmental and nongovernmental organizations 
from many countries. ISO 9001:2015 is the most up-to-date standard. Common benefits of being certified reported 
by the ISO include improved efficiency, cost savings, and a higher level of customer service.  

Beleave's science and innovation efforts resulted in the November 2018 announcement that the Company 
developed a water-soluble cannabis-infused powder and sugar products to prepare for the adult recreational 
cannabis-infused food and beverage market. Beleave's Hamilton laboratory is being used for methods to formulate 
cannabis extracts into soluble, flavourless powders, sugar crystals, and syrups for use in beverages and food 
products using stability-enhancing techniques for prolonged shelf-life. Product development and optimization 
protocols will be done alongside long-term Beleave collaborator, Dr. Michael Rogers, Associate Professor in the 
Department of Food Sciences at the University of Guelph. 

Beleave acquired 250,000 square feet of greenhouse space and 85 acres of land in London, Ontario, in September 
2018, to cultivate and process cannabis for distribution and sale in Canada and internationally where permitted. In 
August 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Letter of Intent ("LOI"), with a private purchaser, to sell 
the facility. The LOI was subsequently terminated in September 2019. Beleave is currently reviewing all options 
with respect to the London facility, which includes obtaining license approval from Health Canada for cultivation, as 
well as leasing or selling the property. Beleave originally purchased the greenhouse space and land for $6,700,000 
using a combination of cash ($1,172,500 in cash), Common Shares ($1,172,000 in shares) and mortgage financing 
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($4,355,500 in financing) at 6% annual interest.  

In addition, Beleave is currently expanding its production capacity at its Hamilton Facility and anticipates the 
expansion to be completed in 2020 upon obtaining additional financing.  

In 2018, Beleave made strategic acquisitions and partnerships to expand and strengthen its business, including the 
April 30, 2018 acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Medi-Green, a leading network of medical cannabis clinics 
with four locations across Ontario and Quebec. Beleave also acquired the outstanding shares of Seven Oaks Inc. 
("Seven Oaks") in July 2018 to secure supply agreements with government wholesalers in several key provinces 
across Canada, paving the way for Beleave to become one of the first suppliers of recreational cannabis in the 
Province of Ontario, BC and Manitoba.  

On June 21, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase 51% of the outstanding shares of 
Procannmed S.A.S. ("Procannmed"), a privately held company that is fully licensed for the cultivation, production, 
extraction and distribution of medical cannabis in Colombia. The license is valid for five years, expiring in January 
2023.  As at March 31, 2019, the Company had not received shares comprising a 51% interest in Procannmed and 
is currently in discussions regarding the status of the agreement. Accordingly, the consideration paid and the 
advance receivable from Procannmed have been expensed in the consolidated statement of loss for the year ended 
March 31, 2019.  The Company is no longer pursuing any business with Procannmed or in South America. 

 
In September 2018, Beleave entered into a joint venture with Kannavis Biotech Inc. ("Kannavis"), to build indoor 
cultivation facilities in British Columbia. However, in February 2020, the Company has provided notice to terminate 
the joint venture agreement with Kannavis for failure to adhere to the construction plan and timelines. 

On November 12, 2018, the Company purchased the shares of 1161141 B.C. Ltd. said to include the full retail 
version of all intellectual property associated with a computer program and website to support its e-commerce 
platform for retail in Saskatchewan for $5,000,000 payable by issue of 31,818,178 Common Shares. Subsequently, 
certain principals of the vendors were named as respondents in the British Columbia Securities Commission 
("BCSC") Matter and the Company evaluated the purchase and was determined to be of nominal value and was 
subsequently written down to zero. 

On October 29, 2018, the Company entered into a strategic partnership agreement with Canymed GmbH to 
potentially supply the German market with medical cannabis and to secure entry to the European cannabis market. 
The agreement will only be triggered upon the Company successfully obtaining GMP certification. Canymed has 
to-date been unsuccessful in obtaining a cannabis distribution license in Germany and is re-evaluating its business 
model. The Company is also re-evaluating the benefit of a GMP certified facility and its agreement with Canymed. 

On November 8, 2018, Beleave had entered into a separate strategic partnership agreement with the Rollins Group 
to supply product to retails stores across Ontario. However, the Rollins Group was unsuccessful in its attempts to 
secure a license to operate a retail store in Ontario. As a result, the Company's strategic partnership with the Rollins 
Group was terminated in February 2019. 

On November 26, 2018 Beleave was named as a respondent in a notice of hearing and temporary order 
("Temporary Order") issued by the Executive Director of the BCSC in connection with an investigation relating to, 
among other things, the use of consultant exemptions from prospectus requirements ("BCSC Matter"). The 
Temporary Order prohibited CSE-listed companies from using the exemption in relation to the other respondents 
named in the order and remained in place pending a reserved decision by a panel of commissioners of the BCSC 
at a hearing on December 7, 2019. On January 17, 2019, Beleave provided an update in connection with its 
participation and cooperation regarding the ongoing investigation by the BCSC. On January 15, 2019, the BCSC 
issued a decision approving an extension of the Temporary Order in the case of certain of the respondents in the 
BCSC Matter. As a result of the decision, Beleave is no longer subject to the Temporary Order. The BCSC's 
investigation is ongoing and Beleave will continue to cooperate with staff of the BCSC. In September 2019, the 
Company announced that it has entered into a settlement agreement with Staff of the BCSC in connection with 
certain of the Company's historical disclosures, resolving the BCSC's review of Beleave's involvement in the 
BCSC's investigation relating to, among other things, the use of the consultant exemption from prospectus 
requirements (the "BCSC Matter"). Under the terms of the settlement, the BCSC will not seek any orders against 
the Company, including financial orders. Full details of the settlement, including the settlement agreement, will be 
available on the BCSC website: www.bcsc.bc.ca. 

https://c212.net/c/link/?t=0&l=en&o=2489052-1&h=3110178450&u=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bcsc.bc.ca%2F&a=www.bcsc.bc.ca
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On August 30, 2019, Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. ("Auxly") filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against 
the Company and its wholly-owned operating subsidiary, BKC, alleging certain breaches of the note purchase 
agreement dated October 5, 2017 (the "DOPE Note") pursuant to which the Company received $5 million in funding 
from Auxly. The Company disputes Auxly's allegations, both on their purported merits and on procedural grounds, 
and intends to vigorously defend itself in any proceedings. 

In October 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a definitive agreement (the "Joint Venture 
Agreement") to form a joint venture (the "Joint Venture" or "Partnership") to develop, produce, and distribute 
cannabis extracts, topicals and edibles for the Canadian market. Canadians are increasingly looking for new and 
safe ways to consume cannabis, and this partnership allows Beleave to meet that need while maintaining strict 
protocols and introducing standardized products with higher margins. Cannabis 2.0 regulations are in response to 
a significant and unmet demand in the legal medical cannabis market to provide more flexibility in how cannabis is 
consumed. Leveraging Beleave's production capacity, scale, reach, and sales network to drive growth for new 
products in the Canadian market, the Partnership outlines plans for the roll-out of extracts, topicals and edibles 
throughout 2020, beginning with Flyte vape pens. The Company began shipment of eight types of Flyte pens in 
January 2020. In April 2020, shipment of topicals (face serum and multi-purpose balm) under the brand name 
"Compliance Brands" shipped; the Company anticipates shipment to begin of Compliance Brands bath oils in May 
2020. Beleave has repurposed parts of the facility to accommodate the larger scale production and packaging of 
Cannabis 2.0 products to meet expected market demand. Beleave and Volero have contributed approximately $1M 
to the joint venture to capitalize on resources and operations in the form of equipment, input materials (cannabis), 
funding, branding, labour and operational inputs which significantly contributed to bringing the product to market. 
Future spending for the Volero partnership is contingent on the sell through on the four products we have listed in 
the market place. Based on current sell through rates the Company anticipates the purchase of additional 
ingredients such as distillate, packaging and hardware will be required, which are estimated to average $1.385M 
per quarter. The Company notes that most provinces have gone to the just in time delivery model and are not 
currently stocking significant amounts of inventory.  

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

The nine months ending December 31, 2019 was challenging and exciting period for Beleave. The Company's 
major focus was on labelling, packaging, transporting and delivering recreational cannabis products in Ontario, BC 
and Manitoba under the Seven Oaks brand. The Company's revenue of $1,855,066, net of excise tax, for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2019, is predominantly attributed to the recreational market. There was also a 
significant increase in the change in fair value for notes payable attributed to increased payments to Auxly against 
the non-dilutive debt financing by way of an instrument evidencing a debt obligation repayable in product equivalents 
(the "D.O.P.E. Note"). 

The Company is focusing its resources as follows:  

1. Maximization of Oil Formulated Sales: Beleave received its oil sales license on January 11, 2019 and 
subsequently received its extracts, topicals and edibles sales license on October 30, 2019. The Company 
will be seeking to maximize production and sale of these higher margin products, with specific focus on 
consumer packaged goods integration with the five provinces it currently sells to (British Columbia, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario), medical clinics and the development of new products. All new 
products launched go through a 60-day New Notification Cannabis Product ("NNCP") submission process 
prior to the sale of product to the market. As of the date hereof, Beleave offers eight vape cartridge SKUs 
and three topicals SKUs and will continue to develop and submit NNCP submissions for future sale to the 
market. 

2. Hamilton Expansion: An ongoing 86,000 square foot greenhouse adjacent to Beleave's current fully 
operating facility is expected to be completed in 2020, subject to market demand, regulatory and municipal 
approval, and financing. 

3. Expansion of Medi-Green and My Grow Client Base: Furthering its medical client acquisition strategy 
with strategic partnerships, continue open dialogue with healthcare practitioners for patient educational 
purposes, increased web presence and educational engagement. 
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The following table sets forth the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the nine months ended December 
31, 2019: 
 

 
 
 
 
REVENUES 

The Company has reported $1,855,066 of net revenue (2018 – $1,331,033), net of excise tax, for the nine months 
ending December 31, 2019. Key driver for net revenues during the nine month period were principally driven by the 
legalization of recreational cannabis in October 2018. Net sales of the Company during this period comprised of 
both medical and recreational cannabis totaling $1,325,821 (2018 - $622,854) and client service and referral fees 
from the medical clinics of $529,245 (2018 - $708,179). Client service and referral fees were generated from clinics 
operated by Medi-Green and My Grow. Management expects future revenues to be driven by Cannabis 2.0 which was 
legalized in October 2019. Accordingly, the Company has refocused its business to concentrate on higher margin value 
added Cannabis 2.0 products. Increased capacity is expected to come from online and in-store sales across 5 provinces 
as Cannabis 2.0 products are expected to come on stream in early 2020. The Company has established sales channels 
in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario. 

GROSS PROFIT 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2019 the Company has gross loss of $1,205,654 (2018 – gross profit 
of $1,331,033) before fair value adjustments of biological assets and inventory. The difference in gross profit from 
the same period last year is largely due to a reclass of pre-production costs of $1,419,282 in 2018, as the Company 
commenced production. Gross loss after fair value adjustment was $1,139,712 (2018 – gross profit of $3,492,030) 
as a result of fair value adjustments of $65,942 (2018 - $2,160,997). The fluctuation of fair value adjustments is 
mainly due to biological assets, as the Company's production schedule was not synchronized. In addition, the 
Company had to focus its attention to take advantage of the Cannabis 2.0 opportunity.  

2019 2018 2019 2018 

Revenue
Gross revenue [note 16] 420,417$                 902,892$                 2,001,732$              1,427,160$              
Excise taxes (38,474)                   (96,127)                   (146,666)                 (96,127)                   

Revenue net of excise taxes 381,943                  806,765                  1,855,066                1,331,033                
Cost of goods sold 1,402,900                —                           3,060,720                —                           

Gross profit (loss) before fair value adjustments (1,020,957)               806,765                  (1,205,654)               1,331,033                

Fair value adjustment on growth of biological assets [note 7] 9,637                      1,151,283                427,424                  2,160,997                
Fair value adjustment on sale of inventory [note 7] (98,710)                   —                           (361,482)                 —                           

Gross profit (loss) (1,110,030)               1,958,048                (1,139,712)               3,492,030                

Expenses
Selling, general and administrative [note 17] 1,149,677                2,311,536                3,799,459                7,063,972                
Pre-production costs —                           1,419,282                —                           1,419,282                
Share-based compensation [note 15] 375,000                  727,774                  773,360                  12,965,008              
Depreciation and amortization [note 8, 9, 10] 312,755                  984,996                  1,920,380                1,879,186                

Loss from operations (2,947,462)               (3,485,540)               (7,632,911)               (19,835,418)             
Change in fair value of note payable (237,857)                 396,106                  (741,839)                 (771,678)                 
Finance costs 132,499                  5,267,734                348,983                  5,467,734                

Net loss and comprehensive loss (2,842,104)               (9,149,380)               (7,240,055)               (24,531,474)             

Net loss per share, basic and diluted (0.01)                       (0.02)                       (0.01)                       (0.06)                       

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 526,680,877            446,138,510            510,006,415            387,522,089            

Three months ended December 31, Nine months ended December 31,
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OPERATING EXPENSES 

The operating expenses incurred were related to professional and consulting services, general and administrative 
expenses, maintaining the Company's listing on the CSE, marketing and other similar expenses required for the 
Company's operations. Total operating expenses for the nine months ending December 31, 2019 was $6,493,199 
(2018 - $23,327,448). Pre-production costs were $nil (2018 - $1,419,282). 

Operating expenses were significantly lower across all categories except for depreciation and amortization. For the 
nine months ended December 31, 2019, depreciation and amortization expense was $1,902,380 (2018 - 
$1,879,186) marginally higher than the same period last year. Share based compensation was also significantly 
lower, decreasing from $12,191,648 to $773,360 (2018 - $12,965,008). The Company made share based payments 
including bonus shares in 2018 to a number of senior executives and directors and officers for annual compensation 
as approved in February 2019 by the board of directors of the Company (the "Board"). 

Selling, general and administration expenses ("SG&A") for the nine month period ending December 31, 2019 were 
$3,799,459 (2018 - $7,063,972) which was significantly lower by $3,264,513. The following is a breakdown of 
selling, general and administrative expenses: 

 

All categories of SG&A were lowered except for professional services. Salaries and wages were $1,505,623 (-52%) 
as the Company had a number of senior executives who left the Company and were not replaced. Professional 
fees for the nine months ending December 31, 2019 are related to legal fees, accounting fees, and audit fees which 
were $112,831 higher than the same period last year as the Company renegotiated and dealt with claims from 
creditors. Consulting fees mainly consisted of marketing and investor relations as the Company historically engaged 
outside consultants for these functions. The reduction of marketing consultants has a direct impact on advertising 
and promotion costs. Accordingly, advertising and promotion expenses reduced by $602,098 (-77%) during the 
nine month period. 

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

As a result of the above, the Company resulted in a net loss and comprehensive loss of $7,240,055 (2018 - 
$24,531,474) during the nine months ended December 31, 2019. The reduction in net loss of $17,291,419 is largely 
due to a finance cost of $5,467,734 and share-based compensation of $12,965,008 during the same period in 2018. 

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

REVENUES 

The Company reported $381,943 of net revenue (2018 – $806,765), net of excise tax, for the three months ending 
December 31, 2019. Net revenues during the three months period consisted of $238,170 (2018 - $576,551) in 
medical cannabis sales and client services and referral fees of $143,772 (2018 - $230,214) generated by Medi-
Green and My Grow. The decrease in client services and referral fees was driven by the legalization of recreational 
cannabis in October 2018. Medical cannabis users can now access through recreation uses and retail stores rather 
than via clinic referrals. The Company expects client services and referral fees will continue to decline as 
recreational cannabis offers patients an alternative supply channel.  

The decrease in revenue in Q3 2020 was driven by the following:  

2019 2018 Change ($) Change (%)

Salaries and wages 1,362,911$                      2,868,534$                      (1,505,623)     -52%
General office 1,141,792$                      1,322,218$                      (180,426)        -14%
Professional fees 860,724$                         747,893$                         112,831         15%
Consulting fees 256,132$                         1,345,329$                      (1,089,197)     -81%
Advertising and promotion 177,900$                         779,998$                         (602,098)        -77%
Total selling, general and administrative expenses 3,799,459$                      7,063,972$                      (3,264,513)     -46%

Nine months ended December 31,
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a. In November 2019, consistent with the Company's change of focus to the higher margin value added 
Cannabis 2.0 products, the Company repurposed one of the production rooms for the development of 
consumer package products. 

b. During Q3 2020, the Company experienced two crop failures due to pollinating issues and moisture causing 
mildew issues. 

GROSS PROFIT 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019 the Company has gross loss of $1,205,654 (2018 - gross profit 
of $1,331,033) before fair value adjustments of biological assets and inventory. The difference in gross profit from 
the same period last year is largely due to a reclassification of pre-production costs of $1,419,282 in 2018, as the 
Company commenced production. Gross loss after fair value adjustment was $1,110,030 (2018 - gross profit of 
$1,958,048) as a result of fair value adjustments of negative $89,073 (2018 - $1,151,283). The fluctuation of fair 
value adjustments is mainly due to biological assets as the Company's production schedule was not synchronized. 
In addition, the Company also had to focus its attention to take advantage of the Cannabis 2.0 opportunity. 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

The operating expenses incurred were related to professional and consulting services, general and administrative 
expenses, maintaining the Company's listing on the CSE, marketing and other similar expenses required for the 
Company's operations. Total operating expenses for the three months ending December 31, 2019 was $1,837,432 
(2018 - $5,443,588). Pre-production costs was $nil (2018 - $1,419,282).  

Operating expenses were significantly lower across all categories as the Company actively cut costs. For the three 
months ended December 31, 2019, depreciation and amortization were lower by $672,241 for a total of $312,755 
(2018 - $984,996). Amortization for Q3 2020 is significantly lower because the Company has fully amortized the 
customer relations under intangible assets in the first six months of the year resulting in a zero carrying value in Q3 
2020.   Share based compensation was reduced by $352,774 to $375,000 (2018 - $727,774) due to a decrease in 
the value of bonuses granted as bonus targets were not met. 
 
SG&A for the three months ended December 31, 2019 was $1,149,677 (2018 - $2,311,536) which was significantly 
lower by $1,161,859. The following is a breakdown of selling, general and administrative expenses: 

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, all categories of SG&A were lowered except for professional 
services and general office expenses. Salaries and wages were lowered by $563,419 (-62%) as the Company 
replaced higher paid senior executives with lower paid staff. Professional fees for the three months ending 
December 31, 2019 are related to legal fees, accounting fees, and audit fees which were $428,155 higher than the 
same period last year partly due to a reclassification of consulting fees to professional fees. Accordingly, consulting 
fees was a negative $160,918 (2018 - $682,481). The reduction of consulting fees was also as a result of the 
Company reducing external marketing and investor relations consultants and contractors to cut costs as the 
Company started to establish its own network and became less reliant on external resources. General office 
expenses were $114,686 more than the same period last year as the Company planned for expansion during 2018 
and committed to a larger office premises commencing January 2019. The Company continued to try to sublet the 
additional office space to reduce costs. Salaries and wages were $563,419 lower as the Company continued to 
reduce the number of employees to cut cost. 

2019 2018 Change ($) Change (%)

Salaries and wages 345,980$                         909,399$                         (563,419)        -62%
General office 334,335$                         219,649$                         114,686         52%
Professional fees 600,476$                         172,321$                         428,155         248%
Consulting fees 160,918-$                         682,481$                         (843,399)        -124%
Advertising and promotion 29,804$                           327,686$                         (297,882)        -91%
Total selling, general and administrative expenses 1,149,677$                      2,311,536$                      (1,161,859)     -50%

Three months ended December 31,
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NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

As a result of the above, the Company resulted in a net loss and comprehensive loss of $2,842,104 (2018 - 
$9,149,380) during the three months ended December 31, 2019. The reduction in net loss of $6,307,276 is largely 
due to a finance cost of $5,267,734 during the same period in 2018. 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION 

The table below presents the Company's total assets and total current and non-current financial liabilities as at 
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019. 

 As at 
 December 31, 

2019 
 March 31, 2019 

Total assets: $ 23,332,649  $ 23,609,159 
Total non-current liabilities: $ 1,168,138  $ 2,880,114 
Total current liabilities: $ 16,886,941  $ 10,342,172 

 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

The following tables set out selected quarterly information for the last eight completed fiscal quarters of the 
Company: 

 
Dec 31, 2019 Sep 30, 2010 Jun 30, 2019 Mar 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Sep 30, 2018 Jun 30, 2018 Mar 31, 2018 

 
Q3 2020 Q2 2020 Q1 2020 Q4 2019 Q3 2019 Q2 2019 Q1 2019 Q4 2018 

Net Sales/ 
Revenue $381,943 $754,423 $718,700 $1,043,081 $806,765 $315,617 $208,651 $nil 

Net (Loss) and 
Comprehensive 
(loss) for the 
period 

$(2,843,104) $(2,866,734) $(1,531,217) $(9,253,247) $(9,149,380) $(5,075,779) $(10,306,315) $(6,326,987) 

Basic and 
diluted Earnings 
(Loss) per share $(0.01) $(0.01) $(0.00) $(0.01) $(0.02) $(0.00) $(0.05) $(0.02) 

 
The Company had no sales prior to Q1 2019. The Company received its license to grow cannabis for medical use 
on May 18, 2017 and received its sales license in April 2018. Immediately following the receipt of its sales license, 
the Company completed the acquisition of Medi-Green whereby the Company gained access to a customer list to 
generate revenue. The Company generated $208,651 in revenue for the first time in Q1 2019 ending June 30, 
2018. 

Revenue continued to grow quarter to quarter throughout the next three quarters ending March 31, 2019 as the 
medical cannabis market continued to grow at an average rate of 79% per quarter. Total sales for the year ending 
March 31, 2019 was $2,374,114. During this period, the Company made other acquisitions including Seven Oaks 
in July 2018 and purchased a new greenhouse facility in London, Ontario in May 2018. The Company also entered 
into ten year lease agreements for two facilities in British Columbia conditional upon the Company undertaking 
specific construction and buildout of the facilities. In spite of the growth in sales, the Company incurred quarterly 
losses totaling $33,784,721 for the year as the Company incurred impairment charges of $10,169,008 on its 
acquisition and issued 31,265,248 Common Shares valued at $11,848,202. These Common Shares were issued 
to employees who were under compensated during the early stage of the Company and some were issued to 
employees and contractors upon certain triggering events based on their contractual agreements. 

Sales started to decline by 31% in Q1 2020 ending June 30, 2019 as the Company found itself undercapitalized for 
its expansion plans. Sales quarter over quarter for 2020 was sporadic as the Company still has not yet synchronized 
its production schedule to have a steady production output.  Sales dropped by 49.4% in Q3 2020 compared to the 
previous quarter due to the Cannabis 2.0 rollout and the two crop failures during Q3 2020.   
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Sales for Q3 2020 was down by 49% from Q2 2020 and 53% from the same quarter last year. The principal reason 
for the decline in sales was because the Company is refocusing its business strategy to consumer package goods 
which have a higher margin and generally lower capital expenditures as a result of Cannabis 2.0 products having 
been legalized as of October 2019. Accordingly, starting Q3 2020, the Company retained part of its inventory for 
internal use, i.e., value added processing to produce consumer packaged goods to prepare for Cannabis 2.0. 
Hence, sales for Q3 2020 was down by $372,480 (49%) compared to Q2 2020. 

LIQUIDITY 

The Company's objectives when managing its liquidity and capital structure are to generate sufficient cash to fund 
the Company's operating and organic growth requirements. During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, 
Beleave secured new equity investments by way of warrant and options exercise and the issuance of equity. The 
table below sets out the cash, short-term debt and working capital at December 31, 2019. 

 As at 
 December 31, 2019  March 31, 2019 

Current Assets $ 2,707,697  $ 4,213,298 
Current Liabilities $ 16,886,941  $ 10,342,172 
Working capital deficiency $ (14,179,244)  $ (6,128,874) 

 
Going Concern Uncertainty 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had cash available of $120,406. The Company has incurred losses of 
$9,149,380 year to date. The Company has begun to generate revenue but will incur losses until revenues reach a 
level where operations become profitable. The Company's ability to reach profitability is dependent on successful 
implementation of its business strategy. While management is confident in the success and profitability of the 
business, there can be no assurance that Beleave will gain adequate market acceptance for its products or be able 
to generate sufficient gross margins to reach profitability.  

During the nine month period ended December 31, 2019, the Company had not yet achieved profitable operations, 
incurred a net loss of $7,240,055 (2018 – $24,531,474) and, as of that date, the Company has an accumulated 
deficit of $66,352,312 (March 31, 2019 – $59,112,257), and is in default of the note payable to Auxly Cannabis 
Group. 
 
Management's view is that the success of the Company is dependent upon financing the remaining portion of its 
capital requirements and repayment of existing debt. The Company will require additional financing in order to 
conduct its planned business operations, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 
and commitments as they come due, indicating a material uncertainty exists that casts significant doubt upon the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company is in the process of re-negotiating with its creditors. 
In addition, the Company has restructured its operations over the nine-month period to meet working capital 
requirements by:  

• Refocusing the Company's business on consumer packaged goods through significant ramp-up of sales 
through the launch of Cannabis 2.0 products including vape pens, topicals and edibles in the near future. 

• Maintaining high quality grow in Hamilton; 
• Reducing employees to cut payroll substantially; 
• Reducing operating expenses in particularly marketing and investor relations expenses.  
• Marketing existing office space for sublease. 

SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS 

 Nine months ended December 31, 
 2019 2018 
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities $ (680,093) $ (9,490,622) 
Cash flows used by financing activities $ 1,002,729 $ 6,189,740 
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Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities $ (740,468) $ (6,936,204) 
Cash, End of Period $ 120,406 $ 1,764,939 

Cash from Operations 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, cash used in operation was $680,093 (2018 - $9,490,622) in 
spite of a net loss of $7,240,055. Net cash used after adjustment to non-cash items used in operating activities was 
$(4,588,839) (2018 - $(7,152,221)). The Company financed its working capital by managing its accounts payable 
and receivables resulting in an increase in non-cash working capital of $3,908,746 (2018 - $(2,338,401)). 

Cash from Financing Activities 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, total cash generated from financing activities was $1,002,729 
(2018 - $6,189,740) of which $1,567,409 (2018 - $nil) was from borrowing, $743,000 (2018 - $5,497,112) was from 
issuance of units and $322,465 (2018 - $1,294,966) was from exercise of warrants and options. 

Cash from Investing Activities 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, the Company used $990,468 (2018 - $6,105,995) to invest in 
property, plant and equipment. During the period, the Company received $250,000 from sale of assets. Total cash 
used in investing activities were $740,468 (2018 - $6,936,204). 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Historically, the Company has been financing its operations through debt and the issuance of Common Shares until 
the point at which its operations are profitable and self-funding. The Company periodically evaluated the opportunity 
to raise additional funds through either the public or private placement of equity capital to strengthen its financial 
position and to provide sufficient cash reserves for growth and development of the business. As the cannabis capital 
market deteriorates, the Company has been considering alternative methods to improve its capital resources, including 
the following: 

• Disposing of non-core assets including the planned sale of its retail store in Lloydminster, Saskatchewan 
and the planned sale of the facility in London, Ontario. 

• Capitalizing on its intellectual property either through licensing or out-right sale. 

• Entering into partnership, including the joint venture partnership with Volero Brands, to launch Cannabis 
2.0 products, including to develop, produce and distribute cannabis extract, topicals and edibles for the 
Canadian market. 

ACCOUNTING POLICY  

In the fourth quarter of the 2019 fiscal year, the Company changed its accounting policy with respect to production 
costs related to biological assets. Prior to this change, the Company expensed all costs related to production of 
biological assets. The Company now capitalizes production costs related to biological assets and expenses these 
costs to cost of goods sold as the inventory is sold. 
  
The Company capitalizes all direct and indirect costs of biological assets as incurred related to the biological 
transformation of the biological assets between the point of initial recognition and the point of harvest. Direct and 
indirect costs include labour and labour related costs, grow consumables, utilities, facilities costs including an 
allocation of overhead costs related to the production facility, quality and testing costs and production related 
depreciation. Capitalized costs are subsequently recorded within cost of sales in the consolidated statements of 
loss in the period that the related product is sold. 
  
Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell up to the point of harvest. Unrealized gains or losses 
arising from the changes in fair value less cost to sell during the period are separately recorded in the consolidated 
statements of loss for the related period. Cost to sell includes post-harvest production costs, shipping and fulfilment 
costs. Shipping and fulfillment charges and any related depreciation are expensed to costs of goods sold in the 
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period in which they are incurred. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 

The following IFRS standards have been recently issued by the IASB. Pronouncements that are irrelevant or not 
expected to have a significant impact have been excluded.  
 
Asset held for sale 
 
In determining whether a non-current asset is classified as an asset held for sale, judgement has to be made as to 
whether the sale is highly probable. 
 
IFRS 3 – Definition of a Business  
In October 2018, the IASB issued "Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)". The amendments clarify the 
definition of a business, with the objective of assisting entities to determine whether a transaction should be 
accounted for as a business combination or as an asset acquisition. The amendment provides an assessment 
framework to determine when a series of integrated activities is not a business. The amendments are effective for 
business combinations occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 
January 1, 2020. The Company has early adopted this amendment effective for its fiscal year beginning on April 1, 
2018.  As a result of the adoption of this amendment, none of the acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 
2019 were determined to meet the definition of a business and determined the impact on the consolidated financial 
statements was immaterial. 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

The Company adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively on April 1, 2019 but had elected not to restate comparatives for the 
comparative reporting period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The 
reclassifications and adjustments arising from the new standard are therefore recognized in the opening statement 
of financial position on April 1, 2019. The comparative period continues to account for leases under IAS 17 – Leases. 
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the 
contract conveys the right of control for the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. From April 1, 2019, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset ("ROU asset") and a lease liability 
at the lease commencement date, which is the date the leased asset is available for use. The ROU asset primarily 
related to office leases and is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability. The lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease payments: 
 
• Fixed payments (including any in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable). 
• Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate. 
• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees. 
• Exercise price of any purchase option if the company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and 
• Payments for penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the company exercising that option. 
 
The ROU assets are depreciated to the earlier of the end of useful life of the ROU asset or the lease term using the 
straight-line depreciation method as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of the consumption of the future 
economic benefits. 

The lease term includes periods covered by an option to extend, if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise 
that option. In addition, the ROU asset can be periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for 
certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate the Company would have to pay to borrow 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and 
conditions. The Company used an incremental borrowing rate to the lease liabilities in the opening statement of 
financial position at April 1, 2019 of 10%. 
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ROU assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs, 
and restoration costs. 
 
The lease liability is classified and accounted for at the amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change in the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if 
the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When 
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the ROU 
asset, unless it has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and for leases of low value assets. The lease payments 
associated with those leases is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. As at 
December 31, 2019, the Company has no short-term lease, lease of low value assets or variable lease payments. 
 
When the Company acts as an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease 
separately. The Company assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the ROU asset arising 
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. To classify each lease, the Company makes an 
overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the ROU asset. If this is the case, then the lease is accounted for as a net investment in lease. If not, then it is an 
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is 
for the major part of the economic life of the ROU asset. 
 
Adjustments recognized on adoption of IFRS 16 

The following table reconciles the Company's operating lease obligations as at March 31, 2019, as previously 
disclosed in the Company's audited consolidated financial statements, to the lease obligations recognized on initial 
application of IFRS 16 at April 1, 2019. 
 

 $ 
Aggregate lease commitments as disclosed at March 31, 2019 2,347,904 
Less: Recognition exemption short-term leases (47,985) 
Adjusted lease commitments 2,299,919 
Less: Impact of present value (467,080) 

Opening IFRS 16 lease liability as at April 1, 2019 1,832,839 
 
The cumulative effect of the changes made to the April 1, 2019 consolidated statement of financial position for the 
adoption of IFRS 16 is as follows: 
 

 

Balance as at 
March 31, 

2019 
IFRS 16 

Adjustments 
Balance as at 
April 1, 2019 

 $ $ $ 
Assets    
Non-current assets    
Right-of-use assets, net - 1,832,839 1,832,839 
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Lease obligation - 485,505 485,505 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Lease obligation - 1,347,334 1,347,334 
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OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

Beleave is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares of which 530,693,558 Common Shares 
were issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2019. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had 20,704,734 
options and 19,056,365 warrants outstanding. 

As at the date of this MD&A, the Company has 566,368,647 Common Shares issued and outstanding. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

OUTLOOK 

According to Statistics Canada, nearly 5 million Canadians purchased approximately 760,000 kg of cannabis worth 
$5.7 billion in 2017, mostly from illegal sources. The federal agency estimates that the average price was $7.50 per 
gram. Various market studies have estimated the size of the legal Canadian cannabis market at over $10 billion per 
year. The Company is uniquely positioned to serve that market through holding the forward supply contracts with 
provinces. The Cannabis Act allows all Canadians over the age of 18, subject to additional age limits imposed by 
provincial governments, to purchase cannabis by mail and in provincially regulated retail spaces. Individuals are 
also permitted to grow up to four plants in their residence, except in Quebec. The possession limit of dried cannabis 
has been set at 30 grams. The Cannabis Act was updated on October 17, 2019 to include the regulation of extracts, 
topicals edible cannabis products, companies were required to submit a 60-day product notification prior to the 
launch of new product for sales. 

In Ontario, which has a population of 14.4 million or approximately 40% of the Canadian population, the government 
offers consumers a variety of cannabis products through the Ontario Cannabis Store (the "OCS"). The province 
also allows licensed privately owned retail locations to serve the adult-use market. The Company has entered into 
a supply agreement with the OCS and Beleave's products under the Seven Oaks brand have been available for 
recreational sale through the OSC since legalization on October 17, 2018. 

British Columbia, which has a population of 4.6 million or approximately 13% of the Canadian population, serves 
the adult-use cannabis market through a dual private-government approach. The British Columbia Liquor 
Distribution Branch ("BCLDB") manages the distribution of cannabis and cannabis-based products. The Company 
holds a supply agreement with the BCLDB. On July 11, 2018, Seven Oaks was selected by the BCLDB to supply 
cannabis directly to BC retailers. 

Medical Market 

Health Canada reports that there are 342,000 patients registered to possess and consume dried cannabis for 
medicinal purposes in Canada with over 120,000 shipments per month, and 24,753 kg of dried marijuana and 
33,463 kg of cannabis oil sold in 2017/2018. In the Regulatory Impact Analysis Statement commissioned in 
connection with the development of the Marijuana for Medical Purposes Regulations, Health Canada's analysis 
used an upper bound (or ceiling) of 450,000 Canadians who might become participants in Canada's Marijuana 
Medical Access Program by 2024 as the reference case. According to the Health Canada website, the average size 
of dosage per prescription for licenses granted to individual users by Health Canada is 2.1 grams of dried marijuana 
per day. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company transacts with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions are measured at 
their exchange amounts. Companies owned and/or controlled by an officer and director of the Company provided 
services or sale of items of property and equipment included in the financial statements as follows: 

 
Nine months ended December 31, 

2019 2018 
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Expenses: 
Rent* 

$135,864 $54,000 

*The entire amount of the rent expense is paid to a corporation of which the Company's COO, Mr. Vasilios Panagiotakopoulos, is a director, 
officer and shareholder. 

Included in prepaid expenses as at December 31, 2019 is $22,644 (2018 – $nil) paid to a corporation controlled by 
an officer and director of the Company in connection with the rent agreement noted above. 

As at December 31, 2019, there was $35,193 (2018 - $6,000) outstanding payables owing to an officer* of the 
Company, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. This amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and 
due on demand. 

*The entire amount of the payable is owing to the Company's COO, Mr. Vasilios Panagiotakopoulos 

Key management compensation is comprised of the following: 
 
 

Nine months ended December 31, 

 2019 2018 
Short term benefits $655,566 $902,826 
Share-based compensation (including bonus 
shares) 

$729,393 $6,734,356 

 
The Company is party to certain management contracts. These contracts require that additional payments of 
$5,061,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain events such as change of control. As a triggering event has 
not taken place, the contingent payments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 
Additional minimum management commitments remaining under agreements are approximately $860,833 due 
within one year. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The risks associated with the financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 
Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely 
and effective manner. The Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments including derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. 

General Business Risk and Liability 

Given the nature of Beleave's business it may, from time to time, be subject to claims or complaints from investors 
or others in the ordinary course of business. The legal risks facing Beleave, its directors, officers, employees or 
agents in this respect include potential liability for violations of securities law, breach of fiduciary duty or misuse of 
investors' funds. Some violations of securities laws and breach of fiduciary duty could result in civil liability, fines, 
sanctions, or the suspension or revocation of Beleave's right to carry on its existing business. Beleave may incur 
significant costs in connection with such potential liabilities. 

Reliance on License 

On May 18, 2017, BKC received its License to operate as a licensed producer of medical cannabis under the Access 
to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations ("ACMPR"), which currently expires on May 18, 2020. On April 13, 
2018, BKC received its sales license from Health Canada to sell medical cannabis under the ACMPR and 
subsequently received its oil sales license in early 2019 and extracts, topicals and edibles license in late 2019, 
expiring on May 18, 2020. Beleave's ability to grow, store and sell cannabis in Canada is dependent on its License. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the License or any failure to maintain the License would have a material 
adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of Beleave. 

In accordance with Health Canada license renewal procedures, the Company has submitted a license renewal 
application as per section 5.1 of the Cannabis License Management Guide. A renewal license application was 
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generated in the CTLS on January 22, 2020. Now that an application to renew our license has been received, 
Health Canada will confirm the following prior to issuing the renewed license: 

o The security clearance status of the individuals involved; 

o The status of fees paid; and 

o The status of licenses issued under the Excise Act, 2001 by the Canada Revenue Agency. 

The License is subject to renewal by Health Canada. Although the Company believes it meets the requirements for 
renewal of the License, there is no guarantee that Health Canada will extend or renew the License or, if extended 
or renewed, the License will be extended or renewed on the same or similar terms. If Health Canada does not 
extend or renew the License or if the License is renewed on different terms, the business, financial condition and 
results of the operation of Beleave would be materially adversely affected. 

COVID-19 

The financial and health impact of the COVID-19 outbreak remains unknown, it has introduced uncertainty and 
volatility in global markets and economies. The Company is monitoring developments and is prepared for certain 
impacts related to COVID-19. The Company is developing an evolving pandemic and business continuity plan that 
ensures its readiness to appropriately address and mitigate any business risks and impacts to customers and 
employees. The Company believes, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results 
of operations and financial condition. 

Economy Risk 

An economic downturn of capital markets has been shown to make the raising of capital by equity or debt financing 
more difficult. Beleave will be dependent upon the capital markets to raise additional financing in the future, while it 
establishes a user base for its products. As such, Beleave is subject to liquidity risks in meeting its development 
and future operating cost requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be maintained or 
appropriate financing is unavailable. These factors may impact Beleave's ability to raise equity or obtain loans and 
other credit facilities in the future and on terms favorable to Beleave and its management. If uncertain market 
conditions persist, Beleave's ability to raise capital could be jeopardized, which could have an adverse impact on 
Beleave's operations and the trading price of the Common Shares. 

Regulatory Risks 

Beleave operates in an industry which is highly regulated and is in a market which is very competitive and evolving 
rapidly. Sometimes new risks emerge, and management may not be able to predict all of them, or be able to predict 
how they may cause actual results to be different from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Beleave's 
ability to grow, store and sell cannabis in Canada is dependent on the need to maintain the License in good standing. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of the License or any failure to maintain this License would have a material 
adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of Beleave. 

Beleave will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with regulations 
may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions of our operations. In addition, 
changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive 
changes to Beleave's operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a 
material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company. 

The industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations, which may significantly affect the financial condition 
of market participants. The marketability of any product may be affected by numerous factors that are beyond 
Beleave's control and which cannot be predicted, such as changes to government regulations, including those 
relating to taxes and other government levies which may be imposed. Changes in government levies, including 
taxes, could reduce Beleave's earnings and could make future capital investments or Beleave's operations 
uneconomic. The industry is also subject to numerous legal challenges, which may significantly affect the financial 
condition of market participants and which cannot be reliably predicted. 

Beleave's business as a licensed producer represents a new industry and new market. In addition to being subject 
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to general business risks and to risks inherent in the nature of an early stage business, a business involving an 
agricultural product and a regulated consumer product, Beleave will need to continue to build brand awareness in 
the industry and market through significant investments in its strategy, its production capacity, quality assurance 
and compliance with regulations. These activities may not promote the Beleave brand and products as effectively 
as intended. This new market and industry into which management is entering will have competitive conditions, 
consumer tastes, patient requirements and unique circumstances and spending patterns that differ from existing 
markets. 

Holding Company Status 

Beleave is a holding company and essentially all of its operating assets are the capital stock of its subsidiaries. 
Beleave conducts substantially all of its business through its subsidiaries, which generate substantially all of its 
revenues, and its investors are therefore subject to the risks attributable to its subsidiaries. Beleave's cash flow and 
its ability to complete current or desirable future enhancement opportunities are dependent on the earnings of its 
subsidiaries and the distribution of those earnings to Beleave. The ability of Beleave's subsidiaries to pay dividends 
and other distributions will depend on each subsidiary's operating results, applicable laws and regulations regarding 
the payment of dividends and distributions, and any contractual restrictions on distributions in debt instruments, 
among other things. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of Beleave's subsidiaries, 
debtholders and trade creditors will generally be entitled to the payment of their claims from the assets of those 
subsidiaries before any assets are made available for distribution to Beleave. 

Managing Growth 

The Company's growth places a strain on managerial, financial and human resources. The Company will need to 
provide adequate operational, financial and management controls and reporting procedures to manage the 
continued growth in the number of employees, scope of operating and financial systems and the geographic area 
of operations. Expanding the business requires the Company to incur costs, which may be significant, before any 
associated revenues materialize. 

Expansion of Facilities 

Expansion of the Facility is subject to Health Canada regulatory approvals, market demand and available funding. 
While management does not anticipate significant issues receiving any necessary approvals in the future, the delay 
or denial of such approvals may have a material adverse impact on the business and may result in Beleave not 
meeting anticipated or future demand when it arises. 

Expansion of Hamilton Facility 

In March 2018, Beleave engaged Havecon Horticultural Projects (together with its affiliates, "Havecon") to construct 
a greenhouse as part of the Company's approximately $9 million Hamilton Phase 2 expansion project. The 
expansion plan included an additional 5,700 sq. ft. of indoor grow space, 55,000 sq. ft. of greenhouse space, and 
31,000 sq. ft. allocated or offices, secure storage, and processing. 

Health Canada has issued a request for more information ("RMI") pursuant to a license amendment application 
submitted for the Hamilton Facility to build an 86,000 square feet hybrid greenhouse extension to the existing 
building. This expansion would include the addition of the three main greenhouse grow rooms, warehouse and 
processing. Health Canada requested Beleave confirms that our physical security measures comply with Part 4 of 
the Cannabis Regulations and that our Good Production Practices comply with Part 5 of the Cannabis Regulations. 
These confirmations require camera still-shots, photographs and security device specifications, etc. Upon 
confirmation of these elements, Beleave expects that Health Canada will approve our amendment application to 
add these proposed grow rooms to the list of Beleave's current license. Beleave received all the necessary 
approvals and permits to complete the build from the City of Hamilton. While management does not anticipate 
significant issues receiving any necessary additional approvals that may be required in the future, the Company 
may be required to obtain additional formal approvals from the municipal and provincial bodies. Further delay may 
have a material adverse impact on the business and may result in Beleave not meeting anticipated or future 
demand. To date, approximately 70% percent of the expansion (approximately $6M) has been completed and the 
Company anticipates it will require an additional $2.5M to complete the structural build and $1.5M for security and 
further redesign to complete the warehouse and processing. The developer, Havecon Projects B.V., continues to 
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complete construction in phases, as capital becomes available through two potential asset sales. Both the developer 
and the Company continue open dialogue and are committed to finishing the project. In conjunction with the 
payment agreement established in January 2020, the Company anticipates completion before the end of 2020. This 
timeline may be accelerated or delayed based on the closing of the potential asset sales, at which time the Company 
will update the market, until then the timeframe is unknown. See also "Litigation". 

Additional Expansions in Ontario 

The management team decided to expand its operational footprint by acquiring an 85-acre property in London, 
Ontario in 2018, which has an existing 250,000 square foot greenhouse and has applied for a license to grow and 
sell cannabis. Health Canada has moved the Company into a "review queue" and is awaiting the assignment of a 
reviewer. The timing of any pending license will remain uncertain until a reviewer is assigned. The Company 
estimates it will take approximately an additional $2M to make the site operational and compliant with Health 
Canada regulations. The associated costs to complete the project include security infrastructure, cultivation, 
production, secured storage and all relative areas needed under the Health Canada regulations. Without securing 
a capital infusion or partnership the Company will not be able to complete the build out. The Company continues to 
actively pursue partners to assist in the build-out of the facility and explores opportunities to raise capital, however 
it should be noted that given current market conditions it has been extremely difficult to find funding. The Company 
will continue to explore and review funding opportunities as they become available. As a result of funding 
requirements, the Company has simultaneously been in active discussions to explore alternate options for the 
facility, including leasing the property, selling the property, or partnering with potential purchasers. Until such time 
as there is a capital infusion, the timeframe is unknown and the Company will continue to evaluate the asset 

The Company expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations related to completion of its expansions and 
its ongoing operations, and other infrastructure, as well as for growth and for regulatory compliance. These costs, 
particularly if they exceed budget amounts, could have a material adverse impact on the Company's results of 
operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, future changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement 
thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to the Company's operations, increased 
compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
results of operations and financial condition of the Company. The Company's efforts to grow its business may be 
costlier than the Company expects, and the Company may not be able to increase its revenue enough to offset its 
higher operating expenses. The Company may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, 
including unforeseen expenses, the delay of the completion of its expansions, the delay or reduction in commercial 
cannabis crops, unforeseen reductions in the price of the Company's products due to changes in supply and 
demand, and other unknown events. If the Company is unable to sustain profitability, the market price of the 
Common Shares may significantly decrease. 

History of Net Losses 

Beleave has incurred operating losses in recent periods. Beleave may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability 
and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, Beleave expects to continue to increase 
operating expenses as it implements initiatives to continue to grow its business. If Beleave's revenues do not 
increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses, Beleave will not be profitable. 

Credit Risk 

Beleave's exposure to credit risk is on its cash and short-term investments. Cash and short-term investments consist 
of cash bank balances held at a major Canadian financial institution with a high credit quality and therefore the 
Company is exposed to minimal risk. 

Liquidity Risk 

Beleave ensures there is sufficient capital to meet its short-term business requirements, after taking into account 
the Company's holdings of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company's cash 
equivalents, and short-term investments are held with a Canadian financial institution and is available on demand. 
The Company will continue to rely on additional financings to further its operations and to meet its capital 
requirements. 
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Risks Inherent in an Agriculture Business 

Beleave's business involves the growing of cannabis, which is an agricultural product. As such, the business is 
subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as pests, plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. 
Although Beleave proposes to grow its products indoors under climate-controlled conditions and carefully monitor 
the growing conditions with trained personnel, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a 
material adverse effect on the volume, quality and consistency of its products. 

Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs 

Beleave's cannabis growing operations consume considerable energy, making Beleave vulnerable to rising energy 
costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of Beleave and its ability to operate 
profitably. 

Operating Risk and Insurance Coverage 

The Company's business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse environmental 
conditions, accidents, labour disputes and changes in the regulatory environment. Such occurrences could result 
in damage to assets, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in operations, monetary losses and 
possible legal liability. 

Although the Company intends to continue to maintain insurance to protect its assets and employees against certain 
risks in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated 
with its operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically 
feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be adequate to cover any 
resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against certain risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards 
encountered in the operations of the Company may not be available on acceptable terms. Losses from uninsured 
events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial 
performance and results of operations. 

Environmental Regulations and Risks 

Beleave's operations are subject to environmental regulation. These regulations mandate, among other things, the 
maintenance of air and water quality standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the 
generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving 
in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes 
in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect Beleave's operations. 

Government approvals and permits are currently and may in the future be required in connection with Beleave's 
operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, the Company may be curtailed or prohibited 
from its proposed production of cannabis or from proceeding with the development of its operations as currently 
proposed. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions 
thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, 
and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or 
remedial actions. Beleave may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of its 
operations and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Company may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because of the fact that some of its officers 
and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities. In addition, the Company's executive officers and 
directors may devote time to their outside business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or adversely 
interfere with their duties to the Company. In some cases, the Company's executive officers and directors may have 
fiduciary obligations associated with these business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to the 
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Company's business and affairs and that could adversely affect the Company's operations. These business 
interests could require significant time and attention of the Company's executive officers and directors. 

In addition, the Company may become involved in other transactions which conflict with the interests of its directors 
and the officers who may from time to time deal with persons, firms, institutions or corporations with which the 
Company may be dealing, or which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of 
these persons could conflict with those of the Company. In addition, from time to time, these persons may be 
competing with the Company for available investment opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to 
the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws. In particular, in the event such a conflict of interest 
arises at a meeting of the Company's directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or 
against the approval of such participation or such terms. In accordance with applicable laws, the directors of the 
Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 

Litigation 

The Company may become party to litigation, from time to time, in the ordinary course of business which could 
adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Company becomes involved be determined against 
the Company such a decision could adversely affect the Company's ability to continue operating and the market 
price for the Common Shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Company is involved in litigation and 
wins, litigation can redirect significant Company resources. Litigation may also create a negative perception of the 
Company's brand. 

A punitive class action has been commenced against the Company and a number of defendants. The class action 
seeks damages in an unspecified quantum in respect of claims in conspiracy, waiver of tort, vicarious liability, 
statutory secondary market liability and fraudulent and/or negligent misrepresentation. The likelihood and amount 
of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. 

A plaintiff commenced an action in the Supreme Court of British Columbia. The claims seek damages in the amount 
of $2,000,000 for breach of contract, or alternatively, specific performance of the terms of a subscription agreement 
entered with Beleave. Beleave is in the process of preparing a response to civil claim disputing the allegations in 
the claim. Likelihood and amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. 

On August 30, 2019, Auxly filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against the Company and its wholly-
owned operating subsidiary, BKC, alleging certain breaches of the DOPE Note. The Company disputes Auxly's 
allegations, both on their purported merits and on procedural grounds, and intends to vigorously defend itself in any 
proceedings.  

On January 13, 2020, Havecon filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against the Company and two other 
parties, seeking a lien against the Hamilton property in exchange for payment owing for construction costs to date, 
plus interest. The Company is working with Havecon and has reached an agreement on a payment schedule that 
allows for deferral of payment and the settlement of a portion of the debt through the issuance of shares. To date, 
the Company has issued Common Shares valued at $100,000 as partial satisfaction of the debt owed to Havecon. 
(See Note 11) 

On March 13, 2020, J. Lohr Winery Corporation filed a trademark infringement claim in Federal Court against Seven 
Oaks, BKC and Beleave for its use of the Seven Oaks name. In light of the rules that prevent an alcohol company 
from branding any cannabis products, the Company does not believe the infringement holds merit and plans to 
dispute the claim. 

Competition  

Beleave faces intense competition from other companies, some of which have longer operating histories and can 
be expected to have more financial resources, industry, manufacturing and marketing experience than Beleave. 
Additionally, there is potential that the industry will undergo consolidation, creating larger companies that may have 
increased geographic scope and other economies of scale. Increased competition by larger, better-financed 
competitors with geographic or other structural advantages could materially and adversely affect the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of Beleave. 
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If the number of users of cannabis in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and the Company 
expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to offer an increasing 
number of diversified products. To remain competitive, the Company will require a continued level of investment in 
research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The Company may not have sufficient resources 
to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis, which 
could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

Third Party Transportation 

In order for customers of Beleave to receive their product, Beleave must rely on third party transportation services. 
This can cause logistical problems with and delays in patients obtaining their orders and cannot be directly 
controlled by Beleave. Any delay by third party transportation services may adversely affect Beleave's financial 
performance. The current status of domestic and international supply chains has been impacted by COVID-19 to a 
yet unknown extent (see "COVID-19" below for more information). 

Moreover, security of the product during transportation to and from Beleave's Facility is critical due to the nature of 
the product. A breach of security during transport could have material adverse effects on Beleave's business, 
financials and prospects. Any such breach could impact Beleave's ability to continue operating under its licenses 
or the prospect of renewing its licenses. 

Volatile Market Price for Common Shares 

The market price for the Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous 
factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control, including but not limited to the following: 

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Company's quarterly results of operations. 

• recommendations by securities research analysts. 

• changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which the 
Company operates. 

• addition or departure of the Company's executive officers and other key personnel. 

• release or expiration of transfer restrictions on outstanding Common Shares. 

• sales or perceived sales of additional Common Shares. 

• operating and financial performance that vary from the expectations of management, securities analysts 
and investors. 

• regulatory changes affecting the Company's industry generally and its business and operations. 

• announcements of developments and other material events by the Company or its competitors. 

• fluctuations to the costs of vital production materials and services. 

• changes in global financial markets and global economies and general market conditions, such as interest 
rates and pharmaceutical product price volatility. 

• significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 
commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors. 

• operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the 
Company or from a lack of market comparable companies; and 

• news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes 
and other related issues in the Company's industry or target markets. 

Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected 
the market prices of equity securities of companies and that have often been unrelated to the operating 
performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Such volatility has been particularly evident 
with regards to the share price of cannabis companies that are publicly traded in Canada. Accordingly, the market 
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price of the Common Shares may decline even if the Company's operating results, underlying asset values or 
prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in 
asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. There can be no 
assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and 
market turmoil continue, the Company's operations could be adversely impacted, and the trading price of the 
Common Shares may be materially adversely affected. 

Future Sales or Issuances of Securities 

The Company may sell additional securities in subsequent offerings (including through the sale of securities 
convertible into equity securities and may issue equity securities in acquisitions). The Company cannot predict the 
size of future issuances of equity securities or the size and terms of future issuances of debt instruments or other 
securities convertible into equity securities or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of debt instruments 
or securities will have on the market price of the securities, where there is a market for such securities. 

Issuance by the Company or sales by the Company or its existing security holders or substantial numbers of 
securities, or the perception that such issuances or sales could occur, may adversely affect the prevailing market 
prices for securities and result in dilution, possibly substantial, to current security holders. Such issuances or sales 
could occur at prices less than the current market price for such securities. Exercises of presently outstanding share 
options or warrants may also result in dilution to security holders. 

Exchange Standards 

The Company must meet continuing listing standards to maintain the listing of Common Shares on the CSE and. If 
the Company fails to comply with such listing standards and the CSE delists the Common Shares, the Company 
could face significant material adverse consequences, including the loss of an active and liquid market for the 
Common Shares and an investor may find it difficult to resell any securities of Beleave. 

Intellectual Property 

The ownership and protection of trademarks, patents, trade secrets and intellectual property rights are significant 
aspects of the Company's future success. Unauthorized parties may attempt to replicate or otherwise obtain and 
use the Company's products and technology. Policing the unauthorized use of the Company's current or future 
trademarks, patents, trade secrets or intellectual property rights could be difficult, expensive, time-consuming and 
unpredictable, as may be enforcing these rights against unauthorized use by others.  

In addition, other parties have claimed that the Company's products infringe on their proprietary and perhaps patent 
protected rights (see "Litigation" above). Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of 
significant financial and managerial resources, legal fees, injunctions, temporary restraining orders and/or require 
the payment of damages. As well, the Company may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that the 
Company has infringed on their lawful rights. Such licenses, however, may not be available on terms acceptable to 
the Company or at all. In addition, the Company may not be able to obtain or utilize on terms that are favorable to 
it, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual property that it does not own. 

Unfavorable Publicity or Consumer Perception 

Management of the Company believe the marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception 
regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the marijuana produced. Consumer perception of the Company's 
proposed products may be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, 
litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of marijuana products. There can be no 
assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other 
research findings or publicity will be favorable to the marijuana market or any particular product, or consistent with 
earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity 
could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Company's proposed products and the business, results 
of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Company. The Company's dependence upon consumer 
perceptions means that adverse scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media 
attention or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on the 
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Company, the demand for the Company's proposed products, and the business, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the 
safety, efficacy and quality of marijuana in general, or the Company's proposed products specifically, or associating 
the consumption of marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse 
effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated 
with such products resulted from consumers' failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed. 

Product Liability 

Certain Beleave products are designed to be ingested or inhaled. The Company faces an inherent risk of exposure 
to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss 
or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of the Company's products would involve the risk of injury and loss 
to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. Previously unknown adverse 
reactions resulting from human consumption of the Company's products alone or in combination with other 
medications or substances could occur. The Company may be subject to various product liability claims, including, 
among others, that the Company's products caused injury, illness or loss, include inadequate instructions for use 
or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product 
liability claim or regulatory action against the Company could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the 
Company's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the 
results of operations and financial condition of the Company. There can be no assurances that the Company will 
be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against 
potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at 
all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential 
product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Company's products. 

Product Recalls  

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety 
of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with 
other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any of the Company's 
proposed products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Company could be 
required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection 
with the recall. The Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at 
an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Although 
the Company intends to have detailed procedures in place for testing its products, there can be no assurance that 
any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, 
regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Company's significant brands were subject to recall, the 
image of that brand and the Company could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to 
decreased demand for the Company's products and could have a material adverse effect on the results of 
operations and financial condition of the Company. Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of 
the Company's operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, requiring further management attention 
and potential legal fees and other expenses. 

Information Technology Risks 

The Company's operations depend, in part, on how well the Company and its suppliers protect networks, equipment, 
IT systems and software against damage from a number of threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage 
to physical plants, natural disasters, intentional damage and destruction, fire, power loss, hacking, computer 
viruses, vandalism and theft. The Company's operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and 
replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre‐emptive expenses to mitigate the 
risks of failures. Any of these and other events could result in information system failures, delays and/or increase 
in capital expenses. The failure of information systems or a component of information systems could, depending on 
the nature of any such failure, adversely impact The Company's reputation and results of operations. The Company 
has not experienced any material losses to date relating to cyber‐attacks or other information security breaches, 
but there can be no assurance that the Company will not incur such losses in the future. The Company's risk and 
exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these 
threats. As a result, cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and 
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practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or 
unauthorized access is a priority. As cyber threats continue to evolve, the Company may be required to expend 
additional resources to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate any 
security vulnerabilities. 

Reliance on Management 

The success of Beleave is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its senior 
management. While employment agreements and incentive programs are customarily used as primary methods of 
retaining the services of key employees, these agreements and incentive programs cannot assure the continued 
services of such employees. Any loss of the services of such individuals could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company's business, operating results or financial condition. 

Acquisition Strategy Risks 

The Company has made and may continue to pursue acquisition opportunities to advance its strategic plan. The 
successful integration of an acquired business typically requires the management of the pre-transaction business 
strategy, including the retention and addition of customers, realization of identified synergies, retention of key staff, 
and the development of a common corporate culture. Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part on 
successfully consolidating functions and integrating operations and procedures in a timely and efficient manner, as 
well as the ability to realize on anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from newly formed partnerships. Any 
failure to integrate an acquired business or realize the anticipated benefits of new partnerships may have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as its future 
prospect for acquisitions or partnerships. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully 
integrate an acquired business in order to maximize or realize the benefits associated with an acquisition. 

Strategic Alliances 

The Company may in the future enter into, strategic alliances with third parties that the Company believes will 
complement or enhance its existing business. The Company's ability to complete strategic alliances is dependent 
upon, and may be limited by, the availability of suitable candidates and capital. In addition, strategic alliances could 
present unforeseen regulatory issues, integration obstacles or costs, may not enhance the Company's business, 
and may involve risks that could adversely affect the Company, including significant amounts of management time 
that may be diverted from operations in order to pursue and complete such transactions or maintain such strategic 
alliances. Future strategic alliances could result in the incurrence of additional debt, costs and contingent liabilities, 
and there can be no assurance that future strategic alliances will achieve the expected benefits to the Company's 
business or that the Company will be able to consummate future strategic alliances on satisfactory terms, or at all. 
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

Dividends 

Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the sole discretion of the Board and will 
depend on, among other things, financial results, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that 
the Board may deem relevant. As a result, investors may not receive any return on an investment in the Common 
Shares unless they sell their shares of the Company for a price greater than that which such investors paid for 
them. 

Limited Studies on the Effects of Cannabis 

There has been limited study on the effects of cannabis and future clinical research studies may lead to conclusions 
that dispute or conflict with the current understanding and belief regarding the benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, 
dosing and social acceptance of cannabis. Research in Canada, the United States and internationally regarding the 
benefits, viability, safety, efficacy and dosing of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids remains in relatively early stages. 
There have been few clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids conducted. Future research 
and clinical trials could reach negative conclusions regarding the benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing or other 
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facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could adversely affect social acceptance of cannabis and the 
demand for our products. 

Commitments & Contingencies  

The Company may become party to litigation, from time to time, in the ordinary course of business which could 
adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Company becomes involved be determined against 
the Company such a decision could adversely affect the Company's ability to continue operating and the market 
price for the Common Shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Company is involved in litigation and 
wins, litigation can redirect significant Company resources. Litigation may also create a negative perception of the 
Company's brand. 
 
On August 30, 2019, Auxly filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against the Company and its wholly 
owned operating subsidiary, BKC, alleging certain breaches of the DOPE Note. Auxly has provided the Company 
with notice that it is in default under the provisions of the DOPE Note. The Company disputes Auxly's allegations, 
both on their purported merits and on procedural grounds, and intends to vigorously defend itself in any 
proceedings.  
 
Lease commitments and Right of Use Assets 

The ROU asset as at December 31, 2019 is as follows: 
 $ 
Balance, April 1, 2019 1,832,839 
Depreciation (318,718) 

Balance, December 31, 2019 1,514,121 

The Company leases space for its offices, cultivation facility, and retail store location, as follows: 

• On July 1, 2015 the Company signed a long-term lease agreement with a corporation, owned by an officer 
of the Company, for a term of 8.5 years with the option to extend the lease for two five-year periods. From 
the date of the agreement to December 31, 2018, the rent payable was $14,875 per month, with a 5% 
annual increase to $19,300 per month beginning January 1, 2019. 

• On October 1, 2018, the Company entered into a long-term year lease agreement with 1651602 Alberta 
Ltd., an arm's length corporation, for a potential retail store property. 

• In July 2018, the Company entered into a long-term lease agreement for Beleave's head office in 
Oakville. 

Interest expense on lease liability for the nine month period ending December 31, 2019 was $123,408. 

Lease liabilities as at December 31, 2019 
Balance, April 1, 2019 $1,832,839  
Amortization $220,640  
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 1,612,199  
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The following is a summary of the Company's lease commitments: 
 

 
Hamilton 

Facility SK Store 
Oakville 

Headoffice Total 
 $ $ $ $ 

2021 246,220 66,150 139,650 452,020 
2022 258,531 66,977 143,850 469,358 
2023 271,457 70,326 148,050 489,833 
2024 285,030 36,465 113,400 434,895 
2025 299,282 - - 299,282 

 1,360,520 239,918 544,951 2,145,388 
 

At as December 31, 2019, approximate future minimum payments due under leases were as follows: 
 
Period $ 
2021 452,020 
2022 469,358 
2023 489,833 
2024 434,895 
2025 299,282 

Total undiscounted lease liability 2,145,388 
Impact of discount (533,189) 

Lease liability balance as at December 31, 2019 1,612,199 
  
Current 466,796 
Non-current 1,145,403 

 
Consideration paid to certain consultants 
 
On April 24, 2018, the Company announced the offering of securities on a private placement basis for gross 
proceeds of $5,000,000 (the "April Offering") and indicated that the proceeds from the April Offering would be used 
for general and administrative purposes. On April 26, 2018, the Company announced the closing of the April 
Offering (see Note 14 of the Financial Statements), but did not disclose that $3,750,000 of the $5,000,000 in gross 
proceeds, all of which was raised through certain consultants (the "Consultants"), were to satisfy the Company's 
obligations under the consulting agreements. On September 8, 2018, the Company announced another offering of 
securities on a private placement basis for gross proceeds of $5,000,000 (the "September Offering") and indicated 
that the proceeds from September Offering would be used for general and administrative purposes. On September 
11, 2018, the Company announced the closing of the September Offering (see Note 14 of the Financial Statements), 
but did not disclose that $3,750,000 of the $5,000,000 in gross proceeds, all of which was raised through the 
Consultants and were used to satisfy the Company's obligations under the consulting agreements. 
 
The Company has recorded the $7,500,000 in consulting fees paid to the Consultants net of recoveries of $870,000 
as share issuance costs for the non-brokered private placements in April and September of 2018 (see Note 14 of 
the Financial Statements). Beleave has since cancelled the consulting agreements for non-performance and is 
taking steps to seek and recover the funds advanced to the Consultants, as well as the shares issued in connection 
with the Company's previously disclosed acquisition of 1161141 B.C. Ltd. from certain of the Consultants. 
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D.O.P.E. Note Dispute 
 
Auxly has provided the Company with notice that it is in default under the provisions of the DOPE Note. As a result, 
the entire balance of the note payable of $6,445,854 is due on demand and classified as a current liability and the 
unwinding of the previously recorded discount has been included in change in fair value of note payable and interest 
expenses in operations. 
 
On August 30, 2019, Auxly filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against the Company and its wholly-
owned operating subsidiary, BKC, alleging certain breaches of the DOPE Note (see Note 13 of the Financial 
Statements). Auxly is claiming damages in the amount of $9 million. The Company continues to dispute Auxly's 
allegations, both on their purported merits and on procedural grounds, and would intend to defend itself in any 
proceedings. 

However, the Company is seeking to resolve the matter with Auxly in order to negotiate new terms with Auxly. The 
Company and Auxly continue to explore options that will resolve this matter amicably. As part of these negotiations, 
the Company is seeking to further limit the restrictions under which additional debt may be assumed by the 
Company to allow the Company to seek increased debt financing in order to continue operations while still fulfilling 
its other obligations to Auxly. 

Unsecured Loan 
In May 2019, the Company entered into a loan (see Note 13 of the Financial Statements) and referral fee agreement 
for $567,409. This loan bears no interest and matured on September 9, 2019. Therefore, the loan is due on demand. 
The loan was used to purchase inventory from a licensed producer and to extract the entire purchased inventory 
into oils which will subsequently to be sold to provinces for the recreational market. 
 
As a result of the referral fee agreement, the Company owes a finder's fee of $25,000 and a commission based on 
10% of net profits derived from the sale of the oils from the purchase of inventory. 

 
During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, the Company also received a loan of $500,000 from an arm's 
length party in relation to a property comprised of land and premise in the London, Ontario. The Loan is secured 
through a general security agreement. See Note 13 of the Financial Statements. 
 
The Company is party to certain management contracts. These contracts require that additional payments of 
$5,061,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change of control. As a triggering event has 
not taken place, the contingent payments have not been reflected in the Company's financial statements for the 
period ended December 31, 2019. Additional minimum management commitments remaining totaling 
approximately $860,833 are due within one year. 
 
Loan Agreement  

On July 22, 2019, the Company received a loan of $500,000 from an arm's length party. The loan bears interest of 
10% and has a 3% late payment penalty. Under the original terms of the loan, the entire balance of $522,500 was 
due on October 22, 2019. The loan was not repaid by October 22, 2019 and so was in default and is classified as 
a liability as of December 31, 2019. Upon default of the loan on October 22, 2019 a general security agreement 
was also executed against the London facility. The loan agreement was subsequently amended in January 2020 to 
increase the amount owing and terms. As a result, the entire balance of the loan agreement of $522,500 is due on 
demand and classified as a current liability. See Note 13 of the Financial Statements and "Subsequent Events" for 
more details. The Company plans to remedy the loan from a combination of increasing sales and proceeds from 
potential asset sales. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, revenue and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Significant 
estimates in the accompanying financial statements relate to accruals and provisions, biological assets and 
inventory, estimated useful lives, impairment considerations and amortization of property plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, share-based compensation, acquisition date asset values, income tax, revenue recognition, 
contingencies, determination of asset acquisition vs business combination and valuation of D.O.P.E note. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

(i) Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Company increased the loan by $250,000. The entire amount of 
the loan was due on April 22, 2020 (the "Balance Due Date"), however as per the terms of the Agreement, 
the Loan automatically renewed for a period of four months, and is now due on August 22, 2020 (the 
"Extended Balance Due Date") and subject to a 5% fee and an increased interest rate of 16%. The Borrower 
shall provide the lender with a further four month interest reserve if the Loan is automatically renewed. The 
Borrower may, when not in default, prepay the unpaid balance of the Loan in whole or in part, without 
notice, upon payment of all interest and fees owing at the Extended Balance Due Date. 

(ii) Subsequent to December 31, 2019, an additional 4,122,321 units were issued as part of the volume 
weighted average price adjustment from the August 12, 2019 private placement. 

(iii) On January 13, 2020, Havecon filed a statement of claim in the Ontario courts against the Company and 
two other parties, seeking a lien against the Hamilton property in exchange for payment owing for 
construction costs to date, plus interest. The Company is working with Havecon and has reached an 
agreement on a payment schedule that allows for deferral of payment and the settlement of a portion of the 
debt through the issuance of shares. To date, the Company has issued Common Shares valued at 
$100,000 as partial satisfaction of the debt owed to Havecon. (See Note 11) 

(iv) On January 24, 2020, the Company entered into a Consulting Agreement with Shaxon Enterprises Ltd. for 
services that include advice on operations, business development, business opportunities, raising capital, 
management strategies, and corporate communications. 

(v) On February 25, 2020, the Company issued 3,460,207 Common Shares for debt settlement at a 20-day 
weighted average price of $0.289 for $100,000. 

(vi) On February 26, 2020, the Company provided an operational update on the roll out of its adult use cannabis 
products with Flyte Classic vape pens, in conjunction with Volero Brands Inc.; the product is now available 
in British Columbia, with Manitoba and Saskatchewan. 

(vii) On February 26, 2020 The Company also announced it had closed a private placement in the amount of 
$270,000, at a subscription price per unit based on a 20-day volume weighted average price; each unit is 
comprised of one Common Share and one Common Share purchase warrant of the Company for total 
Common Shares issued of 9,342,561. Each Common Share purchase price warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one Common Share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.05 following a four-month hold 
and expiring 24 months following the closing date. 9,342,461 Common Shares were subsequently issued 
at a 20-day volume weighted average price of $0.032. 

(viii) On March 2, 2020, the Company announced it is now approved for sales in the province of Alberta. 

(ix) On March 2, 2020, the Company entered into a non-binding LOI with Dutchman's Gold, to partner on the 
production and distribution of cannabis-infused natural honey and maple syrup products under the Sticky 
Icky and Dutchman's Gold brands for the Cannabis 2.0 market. 

(x) On March 13, 2020, J. Lohr Winery Corporation filed a trademark infringement claim in Federal Court 
against Seven Oaks, BKC and Beleave for its use of the Seven Oaks name. In light of the rules that prevent 
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an alcohol company from branding any cannabis products, the Company does not believe the infringement 
holds merit and plans to dispute the claim. 

(xi) On March 31, 2020, the Company issued 18,750,000 Common Shares to officers and directors for 
compensation owing for service on the Board and pursuant to the terms of an employment contract. 

(xii) On April 13, 2020, announced updates regarding internal operations and leadership changes at the 
Company. Kevin Keagan resigned his position as CEO effective immediately but remains on the Board. 
The Company has followed all recommended guidance provided by provincial and federal authorities to 
ensure the safety and health of its employees and customers by implementing recommended policies and 
procedures during COVID-19. The processing and packaging facility continues to be in use, however at a 
reduced level of activity due to physical distancing practices that are in place. Beleave has implemented a 
"behave like you are infected" policy, is monitoring the situation daily, and will continue to abide by 
government and health regulations as they are updated. The Company is meeting all delivery and customer 
order fulfillment expectations and is on track to continue uninterrupted. 
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RESTATEMENT 
 

Subsequent to the issuance of the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements 
for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, management had determined that these 
financial statements needed to be restated to correct for a content and disclosure deficiency. The condensed 
consolidated interim statements of changes in shareholders' equity and the notes to the financial statements 
had been added on these restated financial statements.  
 
Adjustments were made as at December 31, 2019 to correct, among others, the following material values 
assigned to:  

 
• Reduce inventories by $267,279 to include period recognition, reclassification of packaging costs      

previously assigned to sales and marketing and other consumables previously not included; 
• Reduce fair value of biological assets by $41,390, and  
• Impairment to property, plant and equipment of $1,531,407 relating to prior periods not previously included.  
• Reclass of $2,455,016 from current and long-term liabilities to Borrowings; 
• Included $106,626 of depreciation in right-of-use assets previously omitted in the statement of cash flows 

• Included a fair value adjustment of $361,482 on the sale of inventories as non-cash in the statement of 
cash flows 

• Adjusted trade and other payments by a net amount of ($474,241) in the statement of cash flows; and  

• Reclassified $250,000 of changes in other current liabilities from operating activities to investing activities 
and reclassify $500,000 of changes in other current liabilities from operating activities to financing 
activities (proceeds from  borrowings) in the statement of cash flows. 

 
The effects of the restatement on the condensed consolidated interim statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2019, and the condensed consolidated interim statements of loss and comprehensive loss for 
the nine months ended December 31, 2019 are summarized below.  
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2019 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Statement Line Item

Previously 
Reported on 
March 02, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 20, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 29, 2020

Restated April 29, 
2020

Balance Sheet Items (As at Dec 31, 2019)
Cash 120,406                 -                          -                          120,406                 
Trade and other receivables 267,290                 -                          -                          267,290                 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 233,780                 -                          -                          233,780                 
Inventories 2,116,123              267,279-                 (a) -                          1,848,844             
Biological assets 278,767                 41,390-                   (b) -                          237,377                 
Total Current Assets 3,016,366              -                          -                          2,707,697             

Prepaid expenses and deposits 325,000                 -                          -                          325,000                 
Right-of-use asset, net 1,531,891              -                          17,770-                   (f) 1,514,121             
Property, plant and equipment, net 19,283,446            1,531,407-              (c) -                          17,752,039           
Intangible aasets, net 1,033,792              -                          -                          1,033,792             
Total non-current assets 22,174,129            -                          17,700-                   20,624,952           

Total Assets 25,190,495           -                          17,700-                   23,332,649           

Trade and other payables 4,917,090              -                          -                          4,917,090             
Lease obligation 466,796                 -                          -                          466,796                 
Other current liabilities 750,000                 -                          500,000-                 (h) 250,000                 
Borrowings 8,783,039              -                          2,470,016              (h) 11,253,055           
Total current liabilities 14,916,925            1,970,016              16,886,941           

Lease obligation 1,145,403              -                          -                          1,145,403             
Borrowings 1,977,751              -                          1,955,016-              (h) 22,735                   

Total Liabilities 18,040,079            -                          15,000                   (g) 18,055,079           

Share capital 59,247,092            -                          -                          59,247,092           
Warrants 5,248,062              -                          -                          5,248,062             
Contributed surplus 7,134,728              -                          -                          7,134,728             
Deficit 64,479,466-            1,840,076-              (c). 32,770-                   66,352,312-           
Total shareholder's equity 7,150,416              -                          -                          5,277,570             

Total Liabilities and shareholder's equity 25,190,495           1,840,076-              17,770-                   23,332,649           
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
 

 

 

 

  

Financial Statement Line Item

Previously 
Reported on 
March 02, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 20, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 29, 2020

Restated April 29, 
2020

Income Statement (Nine months ending Dec 31, 2019):
Gross revenue 2,001,732              -                          -                          2,001,732             
Excise taxes 146,666-                 -                          -                          146,666-                 

-                          
Revenue net of excise taxes 1,855,066              -                          -                          1,855,066             
Cost of goods sold 2,752,908              307,812                 -                          3,060,720             

-                          
Gross Profit (loss) before fair value adjustments 897,842-                 307,812-                 (d) -                          1,205,654-             

Fair value adjustment on growth of biological assets 411,398-                 838,822                 (e.) -                          427,424                 
Fair value adjustment on sale of inventories 451,455                 812,937-                 (e.) -                          361,482-                 

Gross profit (loss) 937,899-                 281,927-                 -                          1,219,826-             

Selling, general and administrative 3,686,448              113,011                 (e.) -                          3,799,459             
Share-based compensation 773,360                 -                          -                          773,360                 
Depreciation and amortization 1,902,609              1                             17,770                   (f) 1,920,380             

Loss from operations 7,300,316-              314,825-                 17,770-                   7,632,911-             

Change in fair value of note payable 741,839-                 -                          -                          741,839-                 
Finance costs 333,983                 -                          15,000                   (g) 348,983                 

-                          -                          
Net loss and comprehensive loss 6,892,460-             314,825-                 32,770-                   7,240,055-             
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 

 

 

  

Income Statement (Three months ending Dec 31, 2019):
Gross revenue 420,417                 -                          -                          420,417                 
Excise taxes 38,474-                   -                          -                          38,474-                   

-                          
Revenue net of excise taxes 381,943                 -                          -                          381,943                 
Cost of goods sold 1,095,088              307,812                 (d) -                          1,402,900             

-                          
Gross Profit (loss) before fair value adjustments 713,145-                 307,812-                 (d) -                          1,020,957-             

-                          -                          
Fair value adjustment on growth of biological assets 6,389-                      16,026                   (e). -                          9,637                     
Fair value adjustment on sale of inventories 188,683-                 89,973                   (e). -                          98,710-                   

-                          
Gross profit (loss) 908,217-                 201,813-                 -                          1,110,030-             

-                          -                          
Selling, general and administrative 1,036,666              113,011                 (e). -                          1,149,677             
Share-based compensation 375,000                 -                          -                          375,000                 
Depreciation and amortization 294,984                 1                             17,770                   (f) 312,755                 

Loss from operations 2,614,867-              314,825-                 17,770-                   2,947,462-             
-                          -                          

Change in fair value of note payable 237,857-                 -                          -                          237,857-                 
Finance costs 117,499                 -                          15,000                   (g) 132,499                 

-                          -                          
Net loss and comprehensive loss 2,494,509-              314,825-                 32,770-                   2,842,104-             
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Financial Statement Line Item

Previously 
Reported on 
March 02, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 20, 2020

Adjustments 
Made Reported 
on April 29, 2020

Restated April 29, 
2020

Cash Flow Statement (Nine months ended Dec 31, 2019)
Net loss for the period 6,892,460-              314,825-                 (e). 32,770-                   (i) 7,240,055-             
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activies:
Change in fair value of note payable 741,839-                 -                          741,839-                 
Depreciation and amortization 2,114,408              115,620                 (e). 106,626                 (i) 2,336,654             
Finance expense 270,727                 39,353                   (e). 38,903                   (i) 348,983                 
Fair value adjustment on growth of biological assets 411,398-                 16,026-                   (e). 427,424-                 
Fair value adjustment on sale of inventories -                          -                          361,482                 (i) 361,482                 
Share-based compensation 773,360                 -                          773,360                 

4,887,202-              175,878-                 474,241                 4,588,839-             
Changes in non-cash working capital items: -                          
Trade and other receivables 1,356,697              -                          1,356,697             
Prepaid expenses and deposits 43,019-                   -                          43,019-                   
Biological assets 568,275                 57,416                   (e). 625,691                 
Inventories 691,455-                 267,279                 (e). 424,176-                 
Trade and other payables 3,730,814              863,020-                 (e). 474,241-                 (i) 2,393,553             
Other current liabilites 750,000                 -                          750,000-                 (j) -                          
Cash from (used in) operating activites 784,110                 714,203-                 750,000-                 680,093-                 

-                          
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 989,405-                 1,063-                      (e). 990,468-                 
Cash obtained upon sale of asset -                          -                          250,000                 (j) 250,000                 
Cash obtained upon acquisition of Medi-Green -                          -                          -                          
Cash consideration for acquisition of Procannmed -                          -                          -                          
Cash used in investing activities 989,405-                 1,063-                      250,000                 740,468-                 

-                          
Repayment of lease obligation 240,780-                 -                          240,780-                 
Repayments on borrowings 1,039,166-              350,199-                 (e). 1,389,365-             
Proceeds from borrowings 1,067,409              -                          500,000                 (j) 1,567,409             
Proceeds from issuance of units -                          743,000                 (e). 743,000                 
Proceeds from excise warrants -                          -                          -                          
Proceeds from external stock options -                          322,465                 (e). 322,465                 
Cash from financing activities 212,537-                 715,266                 500,000                 1,002,729             

-                          
Net decreased in cash during the period 417,832-                 -                          -                          417,832-                 
Cash, beginning of period 538,238                 -                          538,238                 

-                          
Cash, end of period 120,406                 -                          -                          120,406                 
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Notes made to adjustments: 
 

(a) Inventory adjustment: 

Estimated Figure as of Mar 02, 2020    
 2,116,123 
Adjustments made to inventory during the period:  
Inventory as of Apr 20 1,639,881 
Sales/Marketing expenses reclassed to packaging cost      38,075 
Addt’l supplies & consumables, not included in estimate          170,888 
Adjusted Ending Inventory as of Apr 20, 2020 (see note 6 f/s)  1,848,844 
Variance between Mar 2 estimate, and Apr 20 actuals     267,279 
  
The adjusted ending Inventory valuation has been changed from an estimate to an actual based 
on the calculation provided above. 
 

(b) Biological asset adjustment: 

Estimated Figure as of March 2      278,767 
 
Adjustments made to biological assets during the period: 
 
Fair value adjustment on biological asset as of March 2   192,001 
Adjusted fair value on biological assets     150,611 
Decrease to the fair value on biological assets    (41,390) 
Adjusted ending biological asset as of April 20, 2020 (see Note 7 f/s) 237,377 
 
The adjusted ending biological asset valuation has been changed from an estimate to an actual 
based on the calculation provided 
 

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment/Ending Deficit: 

The PPE adjustment from March 2 to April 20 was due to the estimated March 2 number not 
including impairments. The impairments were in fact recognized on the previous F/Y 2019, and 
were already included in the income statement for the year ended March 31, 2019, as such the 
true deficit carried forward to the income statement only includes the adjustments made to 
Inventory "$(267,279)" plus Biological asset "$(41,390)" minus "$857" error in the previous 
calculation which equals the $307,812 increase in COGS reported on the P&L from the March 2 to 
April 20, 2020 filings. 
 

(d) Gross Profit Deficit: 

The gross profit loss after fair value adjustments on inventory and biological asset is due to the 
flow through from part (a) to (c). 
 

(e) Variances on Income statement and Cash flow statement (March 2 to April 20): 

The March 2 numbers were prepared on an estimated basis, additional resources were brought in 
to reconcile inventory, and biological asset. This reflects the adjustments made between the March 
2 and April 20 resulting in an increase to the net loss from operations. Upon further review of the 
estimated figures regarding the cash flow statement, the company adjusted the values to reflect 
actual figures as of April 20, 2020 
 

(f) Depreciation and Amortization: 

March 2 filings of depreciation were based on the Company's best estimate at the time. The 
Company has adjusted the amount to reflect the proper depreciation/amortization for the Q3 filings 
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as such an additional $226,246 which consisted of $(115,620) adjusted for on April 20, and the 
ROU adjustment for $(106,626). When we reconciled the ROU depreciation, we discovered that 
17,770 was not included in the Net amount record on the balance sheet. Therefore, we have 
adjusted the amount to include this depreciation 
 

(g) Finance cost: 

Adjustments have been made to include the 3% late payment penalty on company loan, which 
resulted in a $15,000 adjustment to finance cost. This $15,000 is also adjusted for in the cash 
flow statement. Please refer to Note 13(e) - Loan 3. 
 

(h) Reclassification on Liabilities: 

The following liabilities items were reclassified from the initial March 2 filing: 
  
Other current liabilities, reclassified to current portion "Borrowings"  500,000 
Long-term liabilities, reclassified to current portion of "Borrowings" 1,955,016  
Finance penalty 15,000 
Net adjustment to current liabilities 2,470,016 
 
Long-term liabilities was reclassified due the portion of the mortgage payable maturing within the next 12 
months resulting in a $1,955,016 adjustment. 
 
$500,000 was reclassified to better reflect the nature of the liability. Please refer to Note 13(d) - Loan 2. 
 
 

(i) Trade and other payables: 

The Apr 28 reported values have been adjusted to reflect proper ending balances on the cash 
flow statement. The net loss change in the latest filing includes an adjustment of ($32,770), 
additional adjustments were made to depreciation $106,626, finance expense $38,903, and fv adj 
on sale of inventory $361,482, resulting in a net decrease to the trade and other payables 
$474,241 

 
(j) Reclassification of Cash flow items: 

Reclassed operating activity to financing activities                                             500,000 
(Please refer to note 13 d – Loan 2)  
 
Reclassed operating activity to investing activities                                             250,000 

            (Please refer to other current liabilities, note 12) 
 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

This revised MDA was prepared as of April 29, 2020. The Company regularly discloses additional information by 
filing press releases and quarterly financial statements on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). More information about the 
Company can be also found on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). 


	FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
	OVERVIEW
	BELEAVE'S BUSINESS

	OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
	OPERATING EXPENSES
	NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

	OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
	OPERATING EXPENSES
	NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION

	SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
	The Company had no sales prior to Q1 2019. The Company received its license to grow cannabis for medical use on May 18, 2017 and received its sales license in April 2018. Immediately following the receipt of its sales license, the Company completed th...
	Revenue continued to grow quarter to quarter throughout the next three quarters ending March 31, 2019 as the medical cannabis market continued to grow at an average rate of 79% per quarter. Total sales for the year ending March 31, 2019 was $2,374,114...
	Sales for Q3 2020 was down by 49% from Q2 2020 and 53% from the same quarter last year. The principal reason for the decline in sales was because the Company is refocusing its business strategy to consumer package goods which have a higher margin and ...
	LIQUIDITY
	SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS
	CAPITAL RESOURCES
	In October 2018, the IASB issued "Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)". The amendments clarify the definition of a business, with the objective of assisting entities to determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business ...
	OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
	OUTLOOK
	Medical Market
	TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
	The Company is party to certain management contracts. These contracts require that additional payments of $5,061,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain events such as change of control. As a triggering event has not taken place, the contingent pa...
	RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
	General Business Risk and Liability
	Reliance on License
	COVID-19
	Economy Risk
	Regulatory Risks
	Holding Company Status
	Managing Growth
	Expansion of Facilities
	History of Net Losses
	Credit Risk
	Liquidity Risk
	Risks Inherent in an Agriculture Business
	Vulnerability to Rising Energy Costs
	Operating Risk and Insurance Coverage
	Environmental Regulations and Risks
	Conflicts of Interest
	Litigation
	Competition
	Third Party Transportation
	Volatile Market Price for Common Shares
	Future Sales or Issuances of Securities
	Exchange Standards
	Intellectual Property
	Unfavorable Publicity or Consumer Perception
	Product Liability
	Product Recalls
	Information Technology Risks
	Reliance on Management
	Acquisition Strategy Risks
	Strategic Alliances
	Dividends
	Limited Studies on the Effects of Cannabis

	CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
	SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
	RESTATEMENT
	Notes made to adjustments:

	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

